

## MEETING OF THE BOARD Thursday, 17th June, 2010 2.00 pm , Committee Room 1, Civic Offices, High Street, Epping

1.30 'til 2.00 lunch (provided) and networking opportunity

## <u>A G E N D A</u>

#### 1. WELCOME/ NEW MEMBERS/APOLOGIES

Welcome from the Chair

2. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING (18/03/2010)/MATTERS ARISING (Pages 3 - 12)

<u>Papers:</u> *Minutes* and *Matters Arising* mins Review of minutes of last Board meeting and outstanding actions. LSP Manager

# 3. A REVIEW OF THE NEW CENTRAL GOVERNMENT'S KEY PLANS (Pages 13 - 48)

<u>Paper:</u> coalition-programme 30 m Discussion of the proposals in 'The Coalition: Our Programme for Government.' LSP Manager

5

#### 4. DEVELOPMENT OF SUSTAINABLE COMMUNITY STRATEGY (Pages 49 - 50)

Paper: Final Consult SCS report20 mReport from on proposals for completion and agreement of new SCS. Copies<br/>of the draft strategy will be published on the One Epping Forest website onFriday 11 JuneDeputy Chief Executive EFDCEFDC

#### 5. THEME GROUP REPORTS

#### Local Strategic Partnership Board

Arrangements for AGM Stakeholder Conference Proposals Proposals for Website Development LAA Project Update

#### 7. AOB / OPEN FORUM

#### 8. DATE OF FUTURE MEETINGS

| 7 October   | 2 pm | Committee Room 1 | Civic Offices, High St, Epping |
|-------------|------|------------------|--------------------------------|
| 16 December | TBA  | Venue TBA        | ТВА                            |

Oral report on discussions, key activities and decisions 20mins from the four Theme Groups.

| Julie Chandler | Children's Partnership        |
|----------------|-------------------------------|
| John Gilbert   | Safer Communities Partnership |
| Anne Grigg     | Sustainable Communities       |
| Pam Hall       | Healthier Communities         |
|                |                               |

#### 6. LSP MANAGERS UPDATE

<u>Paper:</u> Steering Group minutes (paper to follow)

LSP Manager

20mins

#### Thursday, 17 June 2010



#### EPPING FOREST LOCAL STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIP BOARD MEETING

Date: 18<sup>th</sup> March 2010

**Time:** 2.00 - 4.00 p.m.

#### MINUTES

#### Present

| 1 resent                      |  |
|-------------------------------|--|
| Councillor Di Collins (DC)    | (Epping Forest District Council) (Chairman)              |
| Julie Chandler (JC)           | (Asst Director, Community Services & Customer Relations) |
| Reverend Gay Ellis (GE)       | (Representing Faith Communities)                         |
| Jacqui Foile (JF)             | (Chief Officer, Voluntary Action Epping Forest)          |
| John Gilbert (JG)             | (Chair Epping Forest SCP, Director of Environment &      |
|                               | Street Scene)  |
| Councillor Anne Grigg (AG)    | (Chair of Sustainable Communities Theme Group, EFDC)     |
| Pam Hall (PH)                 | (West Essex PCT)   |
| Derek Macnab (DM)             | (Deputy Chief Executive, EFDC)                           |
| Colin Thompson (CT)           | (Representing Town and Parish Councils)                  |
| Sue Wainwright (SW)           | (Customer Service Operations Manager, Job Centre Plus)   |
| Yvette Wetton (YW)            | (Essex County Council)                                   |
| Councillor Brian Surtees (BS) | (Representing Town and Parish Councils)                  |
| Presenting Items              |  |
| John Houston (JH)             | (LSP Manager)  |

(Safer Communities Partnership)

(LSP Administrator) (LSP Administrator)

John Houston (JH) Caroline Wiggins (CW)

#### Supporting Officers

Colin Rowell (CR) David Wright (DW)

#### Apologies

| Apologico                        |  |
|----------------------------------|--|
| David Anstey (DA)                | (Lee Valley Regional Park Authority)             |
| Keith Brown (KB)                 | (Federation of Small Businesses)                 |
| Councillor Ann Haigh (AH)        | (Chair of Epping Forest Faith Forum, EFDC)       |
| Geoff Mangan (GM)                | (14-19 Area Planning Group)                      |
| Councillor Valerie Metcalfe (VM) | (Essex County Council)                           |
| Catherine O'Connell (COC)        | (Locality Director, West Essex PCT) (Vice-Chair) |
| Paul Thomson (PT)                | (City of London)                                 |
| Simon Williams (SW)              | (Essex Police)                                   |
| John de Wilton Preston (JP)      | (Director of Planning, EFDC)                     |
| Jeannie Wright (JW)              | (Principal, Epping Forest College)               |
|                                  |  |

#### 1. Welcome / New Members /Apologies

The Chairman welcomed members. The apologies were read out.

#### 2. Minutes of the last meeting / Matters arising

Minutes of the last meeting  $(17^{th}$  December 2009) were **agreed** as a true record. JH reported on matters arising.

The Mini Observatory on the One Epping Forest website was discussed. CT reported that he had used it and it was very good. A link to the Mini Observatory will be sent out with the minutes.

Action 01: CR/ DW

The Stakeholder Conference report is near completion. Feedback from workgroup leads on their sections is awaited. Once this has been received a draft will be made available.

It was noted that the last Steering Group meeting was cancelled because the Board Away Day was the next day.

JH reported on the Future Jobs Fund. Of the 79 opportunities in the first group, 33 have now been appointed, the remainder are either awaiting start dates or are being interviewed. The scheme is receiving good feedback from employers. JF reported that the standard of VAEF applicants has been very high, with one person being offered a position and one signposted to EFDC.

JH reported that the next tranche is awaiting approval and will have 95 posts.

SW reported that this scheme is presenting an excellent opportunity for young unemployed people and that the West Essex Partnership (WEP) is the best example of partnership working she has seen. She also noted that Jobcentre Plus is looking at ways to improve its recruitment processes and is introducing a young person's award.

JH also noted that one key role of the WEP is to support raising aspirations of children and to acknowledge the achievement of young people in the area. To this end, the WEP is creating a primary school prize offering book tokens of up to  $\pounds100$  for winners in participating schools. It was proposed that the award programme is jointly funded by WEP members ( $\pounds3,000$ ) and Essex County Council ( $\pounds4,000$ ) and the Board was asked to agree that the One Epping Forest proportion of  $\pounds1000$  be approved. The Board welcomed the proposal. BS asked that thought be given to awards in the primary part of special schools. This was agreed.

Other matters arising were reviewed. The only one requiring attention was item BO-02/26 -13, update LSP constitution which would be completed before the next Board meeting. Action 02: JH

#### 3. Use of Natural Resources Review

DM spoke to a report contained in the meeting pack. District Councils are to be inspected by the Audit Commission on activities and services that impact on the natural environment. This covers areas such as reduction of carbon footprint of the Council and in the district as a whole. To this end the Council has already:

signed up to the Nottingham Declaration on climate change,

adopted Safer, Cleaner, Greener initiatives,

improved recycling facilities in the district.

Key areas of focus will increasingly cover:

reducing carbon emissions,

better use of water,

improving biodiversity and

preservation of the natural environment.

DM suggested that a Task and Finish team be set up within the Sustainable Communities Theme Group to look at reduction of the impact of services that all partners deliver on the natural environment. **JH agreed to bring this suggestion to a future SCS Theme Group meeting.** 

#### Action 03: JH

#### 4. Joint Risk Management Register

DM sought the Board's view on the desirability of a Joint Risk Management Register. Again, the Audit Commission is promoting a cross services/shared approach to risk management. The District Council has a corporate risk register which is reviewed and has recently been updated with items such as potential impact of the Olympics on the tube network, car parking and District Council services. Partners were asked if they are interested in adopting this shared approach to risk. This was agreed DM to write to key partners inviting their participation in the programme. Action 04: DM.

JH reported that the WEP is currently establishing a Task and Finish team to look at 'Shared Services' across the three districts. A seminar is planned for late May to look at how this might be developed. The recent Board Away Day **agreed** that

a single practical opportunity for a 'shared service' should be identified by the Task and Finish team to focus on as a pilot project.

#### 5. Prevent Strategy

The Action Plan was approved at the recent EFDC cabinet and endorsed at the recent Safer Communities Partnership (SCP) meeting. JG asked that the LSP adopt the plan and its recommendations which include:

- Map Faith Groups & BME Communities
- Engage and build positive relations with faith communities
- Through appropriate training, develop capacity of key individuals to understand and deliver the Prevent Strategy
- Deliver a balanced message which proportionately reflects the diversity and cohesiveness of the local Community
- Establish suitable governance arrangements for delivery and evaluation of NI 35.

# This was agreed and the Board delegated responsibility for taking this work forward to the Safer Communities Partnership Action 05: JG

GE and BS asked that the Multi Faith Forum (MFF) be given an opportunity to provide feedback. This will be discussed at the next MFF meeting

#### Action 06: JG.

JG reported that a monitoring process is still to be agreed, but once this was in place progress against the plan would be reported at LSP Board meetings.

JH asked whether there was a requirement to score the plan. JG replied that a self assessment report is required and this would be undertaken by SCP.

BS noted that this could be an area that is impacted by the upcoming election, with a possibility of inflammatory literature being circulated. It was reported that this has not been such an issue recently, but any such literature is as a matter of course passed very quickly to the police. Any flyposters that appear are also removed very quickly by the District Council.

#### 6. Board Awayday / Update on Sustainable Community Strategy (SCS)

JH introduced a discussion on the outcomes of the Awayday and its impact on the developing SCS. It was generally agreed that the session was a success, although some members suggested that it could have been slightly longer to facilitate a longer debate on key issues. It was also agreed that the facilitator, Marilyn Taylor, was very good and helped push along discussions in a very effective manner.

JH summarised his understanding of the outcomes from the session, namely that the draft SCS needs to be more strategic, more cross-cutting and have around 10 objectives instead of the current 20 in the latest draft.

An SCS drafting group has been agreed. JH will revise the draft based on the outcomes of the Awayday and send this second draft to the Board members for any comment. These comments would then be passed to the drafting group to complete the document before the final round of consultation. **Action 07: JH** 

There is a target of May 2010 to produce a draft for stakeholders to review. Other issues for development covered in the session were around engagement with London partnerships and strategies, and expansion of the role of the WEP particularly around economic issues, without losing local focus.

It was agreed that the current LSP structure adopted last year is working well but should be reviewed regularly to make sure it is still fit for purpose.

#### 7. Annual Report

The draft annual report was circulated prior to the meeting. JH said the report tries to capture key outcomes achieved by the partnership over the last year. It had been a busy and successful year for the LSP.

The Annual Review idea had been recommended by the Communications Task and Finish team as an opportunity to share information and celebrate success. JH asked that members let him know if there are any items/key successes particularly from the theme groups that should included. Members agreed to provide **further comment by 6 April**. **Action 08: All** 

DC noted that there needed to be a clear list of all the partners involved in the LSP to better reflect multi-agency working. It was **agreed** to add a page showing current partners **Action 09: JH** 

The report will be published on the One Epping Forest website. DM suggested that this be accompanied by a press release, which could act as an executive summary for the website entry and this was agreed. JC suggested achievements such as Future Jobs Fund could be featured in an article in the Forester.

#### Action 10: JH

SW reported that Jobcentre Plus is now working in Loughton Children's Centres and are actively developing links with the community in a number of areas.

JH stated that it was important that all LSP supported activity continue to carry the OEF logo.

#### 8. Oral report from Theme Groups

8.1 Children's Partnership.

JC reported that the EFCP incorporates 12 different public and voluntary services across the district. Since Nov 2009, it has reviewed and revised priorities and will be focusing on mental health, KSI and domestic violence (with SCP), and health – particularly obesity (in collaboration with the Healthier Communities Theme Group.) EFCP has a number of PRG funded projects in progress, namely:

**Ignite**. A 'drop-in' centre in Loughton providing positive activities for over 250 young people

**Trampolining**. A 'referral' project designed to improve self esteem and confidence of primary school children. This has received excellent feedback and some schools are extending the project from their own funds.

**Positive Activities**. 'Hands On' Project at Lambourne Outdoor Centre - an integrated programme of farm, environmental and adventure activities, targeted at 11-16 year olds not in formal education, to build young people's confidence and self-esteem.

The Box. Open access programme and after school diversionary youth project.

**Pedestrian awareness project**. A project to raise awareness of dangers to child pedestrians, particularly in rural areas, through performance work and installations.

Enjoy and Achieve. A range of activities, operating straight from school 4-6pm.

JC reported that there was a strong feeling in the EFCP that partners are willing to work together to achieve results. JH attended the last EFCP meeting and was very impressed with the number of practical activities being delivered and the way in which the group worked together.

#### 8.2 Safer Communities Partnership.

JG tabled a paper with the latest crime statistics and highlights of recent activity from the SCP. While crime figures are down year on year, a number of indicators are still red because they are not meeting the challenging targets set but they did mirror the national spike in crime figures. JG highlighted one figure, a 24% rise in Attempted Burglary (domestic) saying that while this looks bad it refers to failed burglaries, indicating that crime preventative measures taken by householders may be having an impact. Other SCP highlights included securing funding for the cross border post, the Reality Roadshow which was taken to Davenant and Roding Valley schools and the possibility of taking a Reality Roadshow event to Chigwell School with other private schools attending. A new Strategic Assessment is being considered to direct activity and based on the latest data coupled with information on public priorities. It emphasises three single point

issues (antisocial behaviour, burglary and domestic violence) and three crosscutting issues (prolific offenders, cross-border crime and fear of crime). JG reported that Simon Williams has just been appointed acting-Chief Superintendent and was unable to attend today. A formal constitution has now been updated and agreed. CDRPs have now been renamed Community Safety Partnerships. JH pointed out that the latest violent crime figures showed that people were most likely to be hurt at home rather than in the street. DM referred to a recent District Youth Council where inter-school gang violence was raised as an issue. JG said that the police are aware of this. CT said that there was a distorted view of anti-social behaviour with regard to young people. BS added that there was a biased attitude against young people that exacerbated the problem. JF suggested that joint projects (young and old) such as computer skills might help. JC said that there were EFDC initiated projects along these lines such as the community choirs.

#### 8.3 Sustainable Communities

AG reported on what the Sustainable Communities Theme Group expected to be covering at their next meeting. The recommendations from the Credit Crunch T&F would be reviewed, for example, the impact on CAB funding and how it would meet future needs. DC said that CAB provision was important and that additional support from the district had just been given to the CAB from EFDC's grant aid budget, while interview rooms had been found at Epping Sports Centre to help them with seeing more clients. AG added that while the group had been concentrating on economic issues other topics to be looked at would include carbon emissions initiatives and the setting up of a rural transport T&F panel.

#### 8.4 Healthier Communities

PH gave an update on the progress of the Healthier Communities Theme Group. A work prioritisation framework has been developed to ensure an objective approach to selecting work items. A small team had met and identified actions to meet the four objectives in the terms of reference. PH pointed out that the core aim of the group is to reduce the gap in life expectancy and that the approach would be to target areas of greatest need by raising awareness and influencing partner organisations to work on these areas. An action plan would be developed by first understanding the data available, working in the community to understand the need and identifying the top five health issues causing the inequality. A programme of activity would be proposed at the next health meeting.

#### 9. LAA Project Update

DW gave an update on the end of year PRG report which had been circulated and preparations for the Essex Partnership Forum on 23<sup>rd</sup> March.which will be reviewing the projects. All eight PRG funded projects are on track, however, extensions of 3 months have been requested to the EPP5 (supported volunteers) and EPP14 (community transport) projects. The Essex Partnership Performance Management team will be recommending the extensions to the Forum. Output from two of the projects (EPP 8 – access to the Arts for the Learning Disabled and EPP 11 - After School sessions) will be displayed on 'market stalls' at the forum.

It is also proposed to extend the scope of the Community Transport project. Approval is being sought at SC theme group to extend the schemes to include other primary schools and other secondary school clubs, other educational related activities (e.g. courses for gifted children) and extend the use by Children's Centre Services. Colleagues at ECC have been consulted on these changes with broadly positive responses for the changes that are proposed. The Board noted the good progress that was being made, and supported the suggested changes to improve take up on the transport project. The proposals will be put to the Sustainable Communities Theme group for final approval. Action 11: JH

#### **10.** Performance Reward Grant – Project update

CW presented an update on the project to enhance CCTV (EPP15) in the district funded by PRG and asked members to agree a refocus of the remainder of the project to the installation of new cameras in Epping. The current sole focus of the project is for the update of existing antiquated CCTV systems. Two sites, Oakwood Hill and Upshire, have already had digital video recording equipment installed but a survey of the current CCTV provision in the district has revealed that the most pressing need is for Epping High Street which is not covered at all. Instances where CCTV footage would have been useful were related to the meeting. The initial intention was to cover the High Street from the Civic Offices to St John's Church with 10 main cameras supplemented by static cameras covering alleyways etc funded with PRG and resources from SCP. It is a listed area with a number of listed buildings so the planning department is being consulted on the siting and method of fixing (sides of buildings, poles, ornate poles being options considered). Wireless cameras are to be used to reduce the disruption caused during installation. The main cameras cost up to £2.5k while fixed cameras cost from as little as £300 but the installation costs vary according to method of fixing. EFDC is contributing £22k and agreement was sought for money from the PRG fund to be used towards this provision. The meeting agreed the proposal. BS asked whether businesses in Epping would be contributing. CW replied that the Town Council and Town Centre Partnership were being consulted.

#### 11. Review of outcomes from webcast pilot

JH reported that today's meeting was not being webcast because the equipment was being set up for use at the Civic Awards. This, however, presented the opportunity for members to express their opinions on the trial which had been run over the last year. JH said that since the December Board meeting webcast had been viewed 53 times (this compares with 232 views of the Council meeting) and the September meeting 97 times compared to 117 cabinet meeting viewings. The cost was £300 per meeting though this would be reduced if the LSP administration team were to do it. Members felt the pilot had been broadly positive, and hadn't negatively impacted on discussion while giving a lot more people the opportunity to see the LSP in action. Accountability and transparency were important. YW suggested that this figure should be compared to the cost of holding the meetings in a venue where the public could attend. Following discussion the Board agreed to continue with webcasting for the remainder of the year and review the situation again.

#### 12. AOB / Open Forum

DC thanked partners who went along to support Epping Forest College during its Ofsted inspection. It was clear that there had been a dramatic improvement in partners' perception of the college and the job it was doing.

BS asked, in future, for the Board papers to be sent as a single pack and CT asked those producing reports to avoid using large blocks of colour on paper as this was expensive to print.

CT congratulated the PCT on its high ranking in the recent survey of Health Trusts.

|  | 17 June     | 2-4pm | Committee Room 1 | Civic Offices, Epping |  |
|--|-------------|-------|------------------|-----------------------|--|
|  | 7 October   | TBA   | Venue TBA        | ТВА                   |  |
|  | 16 December | TBA   | Venue TBA        | ТВА                   |  |

#### 13. Date of Future Meetings

# One Epping Forest Board Actions



| KEV  | No Target date has  | On schedule to complete | this <b>may</b> not be complete | This will miss the | Closed. It will be archived after review at |  |  |  |
|------|---|-------------------------|---------------------------------|--------------------|---|--|--|--|
| NE I | been set by Target date by Target date target date next Board meeting   |                         |                                 |                    |   |  |  |  |
|      | All comments in the Update/ Outcomes column should be preceded by the date the update was made and the initials of the person providing the |                         |                                 |                    |   |  |  |  |
|      | update. To ensure that the audit trail is continuous and complete changes to items such as the target date must be documented in the        |                         |                                 |                    |   |  |  |  |
|      | Update/Outcome column.  |                         |                                 |                    |   |  |  |  |

| Action<br>Ref          | Meeting<br>Date | Item Ref                            | Item   | Key Actions   | Target<br>Date | Update / Outcomes   | Lead<br>Officer           |
|------------------------|-----------------|-------------------------------------|--|---|----------------|---|---------------------------|
| BO-02/26 -07<br>Page 9 | 26/02/09        | Section 5<br>New ways of<br>Working | Establish the 'Sustainable<br>Community Strategy' Task and<br>Finish Team. | <ol> <li>Identify members.</li> <li>Arrange first meeting</li> <li>Report on progress of SCS revision exercise</li> </ol> | 31/03/10       | 11/3 DW Scoping meeting<br>held. Planning team being<br>established. Data presentation<br>for first meeting in preparation<br>17/6 JH Team established<br>with key partners. Data<br>gathering ongoing,<br>consultation plan being<br>drafted, funding from county<br>secured for first meeting in<br>preparation.<br>11/9 DW Activity no. 3 added<br>11/9 DW Target date changed<br>from 31/03/09 to 31/02/10 to<br>reflect activity no.3.<br>11/9 JH Consultation plan<br>drafted, leaflets being<br>produced, website being built,<br>surveys agreed, stakeholder<br>conference being organised.<br>04/3 DW Draft SCS reviewed<br>at Awayday on 26/2. Drafting<br>group to be established.<br>10/6 JH Draft to be circulated<br>for stakeholder comment on<br>11/6 | EFDC Deputy<br>Chief Exec |

Page 1 of 4





| Action<br>Ref           | Meeting<br>Date | Item Ref                               | Item  | Key Actions   | Target<br>Date | Update / Outcomes  | Lead<br>Officer               |
|-------------------------|-----------------|--|---|---|----------------|--|-------------------------------|
| BO-02/26 -13<br>Page 10 | 26/02/09        | Section 5<br>New ways of<br>Working    | Update LSP Constitution to<br>reflect new Board membership<br>(including Theme Group Chairs)<br>and Steering group<br>responsibility for control of<br>Board membership | 1. Update member list<br>2. Following recommendations<br>and agreement (see BO-02/26<br>-12), amend Constitution.   |                | 11/3 DW Following agreement<br>of new members. Constitution<br>to be fully amended in light of<br>change to working practises.<br>09/06 DW Board endorsed<br>new members.<br>17/6 JH Target date changed<br>from 9/6 to allow for updating<br>constitution 30/9<br>11/9 JH target date changed<br>from 30/09/09 to 31/03/10<br>because the BOARD<br>Awayday in 02/10 will review<br>working of LSP structure.<br>04/03 DW Not discussed at<br>Board Awayday<br>10/6 JH Steering Group<br>agreed to update and agree<br>new constitution at AGM in<br>October. Target date<br>amended from 31/03/10 to<br>31/10/10 to reflect this. | LSP Manager                   |
| BO-06/09 -20            | 09/06/09        | Section 9<br>LSP<br>Managers<br>update | Confirm final list of Performance<br>Indicators and targets for the<br>LSP to focus on following the<br>agreement of the Sustainable<br>Community Strategy.             | <ol> <li>Identify PIs that relate to<br/>new SCS.</li> <li>Prioritise PIs for inclusion in<br/>LAA and Essex Strategy.</li> <li>Present to Steering Group.</li> <li>Get Board Approval.</li> <li>Notify Essex Partnership.</li> </ol> | 30/06/10       | 04/3 DW The target date for<br>the completion of the SCS has<br>moved back to June so the<br>target date on this action has<br>changed from 31/3 to 30/6.<br>10/6 DW SCS will not have<br>PIs in.  | LSP<br>Manager/Ad<br>min Team |





| Action<br>Ref         | Meeting<br>Date | Item Ref                               | Item  | Key Actions   | Target<br>Date | Update / Outcomes   | Lead<br>Officer           |
|-----------------------|-----------------|--|---|---|----------------|---|---------------------------|
| BO-09/24-05           | 24/09/09        | Section 7<br>Steering<br>Group         | Set up Task and Finish Team<br>with broad scope to look into<br>shared services.  | <ol> <li>Write remit for team.</li> <li>Identify lead and<br/>participants.</li> <li>Remit to include Citizens<br/>panel and Joint Magazine</li> <li>Local Improvement Advisor<br/>to facilitate a seminar</li> </ol> | 17/12/10       | 04/3 JH External consultancy<br>support secured. Discussion<br>undertaken with local<br>authority. Essex Partnership<br>agreed to support. Date<br>currently being sought<br>10/6 JH Event delayed<br>awaiting publication of new<br>Govt policy. | LSP Manager               |
| BO-12/17-01<br>Page 1 | 17/12/09        | Section 3<br>Ward Profiles             | Ward profiles to be updated<br>regularly and connections<br>made with other data<br>gathering projects to avoid<br>duplication. |   | 17/12/10       | 04/3 DW Email sent to Sarah<br>requesting status.<br>10/6 DW Ward profiles<br>published. Update BAU for<br>EFDC. <b>Closed</b>  | Sarah King                |
| BO-12/17-02           | 17/12/09        | Section 4<br>Stakeholder<br>Conference | Produce conference report<br>and include feedback from<br>workshops and the question<br>time panel.                             | <ol> <li>Write paper.</li> <li>Distribute</li> </ol>  | 31/03/10       | 10/6 DW Report published on website and stakeholders notified on 18/5. <b>Closed</b>  | LSP Admin                 |
| BO-12/17-08           | 17/12/09        | Section 10<br>AOB                      | To seek approval for the<br>Annual report to be published<br>in the Forester.   |   | 31/03/10       | 10/6 JH Annual Review<br>published on website and<br>distributed to partners. Article<br>to be drafted for Forester.<br><b>Closed</b>   | EFDC Deputy<br>Chief Exec |
| BO-12/17-10           | 17/12/09        | Section 10<br>AOB                      | To report to HC TG on<br>progress of replacement of<br>the Ongar Health Centre.   |   | 31/03/10       | 10/6 DW Report made to HC<br>TG on 19/3. <b>Closed</b>  | HC TG Chair               |
| BO-12/17-11           | 17/12/09        | Section 10<br>AOB                      | To report back on<br>development of a new<br>practice on North Weald<br>airfield.   |   | 31/03/10       | 10/6 DW Report made to Board on 18/3. <b>Closed</b>   | HC TG Chair               |





| Action<br>Ref | Meeting<br>Date | Item Ref          | Item  | Key Actions | Target<br>Date | Update / Outcomes   | Lead<br>Officer |
|---------------|-----------------|-------------------|---|-------------|----------------|---|-----------------|
| BO-12/17-12   | 17/12/09        | Section 10<br>AOB | Partners to include links on their websites to the OEF website. |             | 31/03/10       | 10/6 DW Link is oOn EFDC,<br>VAEF and Fire service. On<br>ECC via Essex partnership .<br>Not on Police, City of London,<br>FSB, PCT, LVP or JCP | ALL             |

# The Coalition: our programme for government



# Freedom Fairness Responsibility

4 The Coalition: our programme for government

# CONTENTS

| Ι.          | Banking                             |
|-------------|-------------------------------------|
| 2.          | Business                            |
| 3.          | Civil Liberties                     |
| 4.          | Communities and Local Government    |
| 5.          | Consumer Protection                 |
| 6.          | Crime and Policing                  |
| 7.          | Culture, Olympics, Media and Sport  |
| 8.          | Defence                             |
| 9.          | Deficit Reduction                   |
| 10.         | Energy and Climate Change           |
| II.         | Environment, Food and Rural Affairs |
| 12.         | Equalities                          |
| 13.         | Europe                              |
| 14.         | Families and Children               |
| 15.         | Foreign Affairs                     |
| 16.         | Government Transparency             |
| 17.         | Immigration                         |
| 18.         | International Development           |
| 19.         | Jobs and Welfare                    |
| 20.         | Justice                             |
| 21.         | National Security                   |
| 22.         | NHS                                 |
| 23.         | Pensions and Older People           |
| 24.         | Political Reform                    |
| 25.         | Public Health                       |
| 26.         | Schools                             |
| 27.         | Social Action                       |
| 28.         | Social Care and Disability          |
| <b>29</b> . | Taxation                            |
| 30.         | Transport                           |
| 31.         | Universities and Further Education  |



# FOREWORD

#### By David Cameron and Nick Clegg

This is an historic document in British politics: the first time in over half a century two parties have come together to put forward a programme for partnership government.

As our parties have worked together it has become increasingly clear to us that, although there are differences, there is also common ground. We share a conviction that the days of big government are over; that centralisation and top-down control have proved a failure. We believe that the time has come to disperse power more widely in Britain today; to recognise that we will only make progress if we help people to come together to make life better. In short, it is our ambition to distribute power and opportunity to people rather than hoarding authority within government. That way, we can build the free, fair and responsible society we want to see.

We are agreed that the first duty of government is to safeguard our national security and support our troops in Afghanistan and elsewhere – and we will fulfil that duty. We are also agreed that the most urgent task facing this coalition is to tackle our record debts, because without sound finances, none of our ambitions will be deliverable. Difficult decisions will have to be taken in the months and years ahead, but we will ensure that fairness is at the heart of those decisions so that all those most in need are protected. Working together, we are confident that we can take the country through difficult times to better days ahead.

Tackling the deficit is essential, but it is not what we came into politics to achieve. We stood for Parliament – and for the leadership of our parties – with visions of a Britain better in every way. And we have found in this coalition that our visions are not compromised by working together; they are strengthened and enhanced. That is why this coalition has the potential for era-changing, convention-challenging, radical reform. For example, we both want to build a new economy from the rubble of the old. We will support sustainable growth and enterprise, balanced across all regions and all industries, and promote the green industries that are so essential for our future. This document shows how, with radical plans to reform our broken banking system and new incentives for green growth.

We both want a Britain where social mobility is unlocked; where everyone, regardless of background, has the chance to rise as high as their talents and ambition allow them. To pave the way, we have both agreed to sweeping reform of welfare, taxes and, most of all, our schools – with a breaking open of the state monopoly and extra money following the poorest pupils so that they, at last, get to go to the best schools, not the worst.

We both want a Britain where our political system is looked at with admiration, not anger. We have a shared ambition to clean up Westminster and a determination to oversee a radical redistribution of power away from Westminster and Whitehall to councils, communities and homes across the nation. Wherever possible, we want people to call the shots over the decisions that affect their lives.

And we are both committed to turning old thinking on its head and developing new approaches to government. For years, politicians could argue that because they held all the information, they needed more power. But today, technological innovation has – with astonishing speed – developed the opportunity to spread information and decentralise power in a way we have never seen before. So we will extend transparency to every area of public life. Similarly, there has been the assumption that central government can only change people's behaviour through rules and regulations. Our government will be a much smarter one, shunning the bureaucratic levers of the past and finding intelligent ways to encourage, support and enable people to make better choices for themselves.

In every part of this agreement, we have gone further than simply adopting those policies where we previously overlapped. We have found that a combination of our parties' best ideas and attitudes has produced a programme for government that is more radical and comprehensive than our individual manifestos.

For example, when you take Conservative plans to strengthen families and encourage social responsibility, and add to them the Liberal Democrat passion for protecting our civil liberties and stopping the relentless incursion of the state into the lives of individuals, you create a Big Society matched by big citizens. This offers the potential to completely recast the relationship between people and the state: citizens empowered; individual opportunity extended; communities coming together to make lives better. We believe that the combination of our ideas will help us to create a much stronger society: one where those who can, do; and those who cannot, we always help.

And in the crucial area of public service reform, we have found that Liberal Democrat and Conservative ideas are stronger combined. For example, in the NHS, take Conservative thinking on markets, choice and competition and add to it the Liberal Democrat belief in advancing democracy at a much more local level, and you have a united vision for the NHS that is truly radical: GPs with authority over commissioning; patients with much more control; elections for your local NHS health board. Together, our ideas will bring an emphatic end to the bureaucracy, top-down control and centralisation that has so diminished our NHS.

Three weeks ago we could never have predicted the publication of this document. After the election, of course, there was the option of minority government – but we were uninspired by it. Instead, there was the option of a coalition in the national interest - and we seized it. When we set off on this journey we were two parties with some policies in common and a shared desire to work in the national interest. We arrive at this programme for government a strong, progressive coalition inspired by the values of freedom, fairness and responsibility. This programme is for five years of partnership government driven by those values. We believe that it can deliver radical, reforming government, a stronger society, a smaller state, and power and responsibility in the hands of every citizen. Great change and real progress lie ahead.

1 Caren

David Cameron Prime Minister

Niv legg

Nick Clegg Deputy Prime Minister

# I. BANKING

In recent years, we have seen a massive financial meltdown due to over-lending, over-borrowing and poor regulation. The Government believes that the current system of financial regulation is fundamentally flawed and needs to be replaced with a framework that promotes responsible and sustainable banking, where regulators have greater powers to curb unsustainable lending practices and we take action to promote more competition in the banking sector. In addition, we recognise that much more needs to be done to protect taxpayers from financial malpractice and to help the public manage their own debts.

- We will reform the banking system to avoid a repeat of the financial crisis, to promote a competitive economy, to sustain the recovery and to protect and sustain jobs.
- We will introduce a banking levy and seek a detailed agreement on implementation.
- We will bring forward detailed proposals for robust action to tackle unacceptable bonuses in the financial services sector; in developing these proposals, we will ensure they are effective in reducing risk.
- We want the banking system to serve business, not the other way round. We will bring forward detailed proposals to foster diversity in financial services, promote mutuals and create a more competitive banking industry.
- We will develop effective proposals to ensure the flow of credit to viable SMEs. This will include consideration of both a major loan guarantee scheme and the use of net lending targets for the nationalised banks.
- We will take steps to reduce systemic risk in the banking system and will establish an independent commission to investigate the complex issue of separating retail and investment banking in a sustainable way; while recognising that this will take time to get right, the commission will be given an initial time frame of one year to report.

- We will reform the regulatory system to avoid a repeat of the financial crisis. We will bring forward proposals to give the Bank of England control of macro-prudential regulation and oversight of micro-prudential regulation.
- We rule out joining or preparing to join the European Single Currency for the duration of this agreement.
- We will work with the Bank of England to investigate how the process of including housing costs in the CPI measure of inflation can be accelerated.
- We will create Britain's first free national financial advice service, which will be funded in full from a new social responsibility levy on the financial services sector.
- We take white collar crime as seriously as other crime, so we will create a single agency to take on the work of tackling serious economic crime that is currently done by, among others, the Serious Fraud Office, Financial Services Authority and Office of Fair Trading.

# 2. BUSINESS

The Government believes that business is the driver of economic growth and innovation, and that we need to take urgent action to boost enterprise, support green growth and build a new and more responsible economic model. We want to create a fairer and more balanced economy, where we are not so dependent on a narrow range of economic sectors, and where new businesses and economic opportunities are more evenly shared between regions and industries.

- We will cut red tape by introducing a 'one-in, one-out' rule whereby no new regulation is brought in without other regulation being cut by a greater amount.
- We will end the culture of 'tick-box' regulation, and instead target inspections on high-risk organisations through co-regulation and improving professional standards.

- We will impose 'sunset clauses' on regulations and regulators to ensure that the need for each regulation is regularly reviewed.
- We will review IR 35, as part of a wholesale review of all small business taxation, and seek to replace it with simpler measures that prevent tax avoidance but do not place undue administrative burdens or uncertainty on the self-employed, or restrict labour market flexibility.
- We will find a practical way to make small business rate relief automatic.
- We will reform the corporate tax system by simplifying reliefs and allowances, and tackling avoidance, in order to reduce headline rates. Our aim is to create the most competitive corporate tax regime in the G20, while protecting manufacturing industries.
- We will seek to ensure an injection of private capital into Royal Mail, including opportunities for employee ownership. We will retain Post Office Ltd in public ownership.
- We will seek to ensure a level playing field between small and large retailers by enabling councils to take competition issues into account when drawing up their local plans to shape the direction and type of new retail development.
- We will give the public the opportunity to challenge the worst regulations.
- We will review employment and workplace laws, for employers and employees, to ensure they maximise flexibility for both parties while protecting fairness and providing the competitive environment required for enterprise to thrive.
- We will make it easier for people to set up new enterprises by cutting the time it takes to start a new business. Our ambition is to make the UK one of the fastest countries in the world to start up a new business. We will reduce the number of forms needed to register a new business, and move towards a 'one-click' registration model.

- We will end the ban on social tenants starting businesses in their own homes.
- We will promote small business procurement, in particular by introducing an aspiration that 25% of government contracts should be awarded to small and medium-sized businesses and by publishing government tenders in full online and free of charge.
- We will consider the implementation of the Dyson Review to make the UK the leading hi-tech exporter in Europe, and refocus the research and development tax credit on hi-tech companies, small firms and start-ups.
- We will review the range of factors that can be considered by regulators when takeovers are proposed.
- We will reinstate an Operating and Financial Review to ensure that directors' social and environmental duties have to be covered in company reporting, and investigate further ways of improving corporate accountability and transparency.
- We will ensure that Post Offices are allowed to offer a wide range of services in order to sustain the network, and we will look at the case for developing new sources of revenue, such as the creation of a Post Office Bank.
- We will end the so-called 'gold-plating' of EU rules, so that British businesses are not disadvantaged relative to their European competitors.
- We will support the creation of Local Enterprise Partnerships – joint local authority-business bodies brought forward by local authorities themselves to promote local economic development – to replace Regional Development Agencies (RDAs). These may take the form of the existing RDAs in areas where they are popular.
- We will take steps to improve the competitiveness of the UK tourism industry, recognising the important part it plays in our national economy.

# 3. CIVIL LIBERTIES

We will be strong in defence of freedom. The Government believes that the British state has become too authoritarian, and that over the past decade it has abused and eroded fundamental human freedoms and historic civil liberties. We need to restore the rights of individuals in the face of encroaching state power, in keeping with Britain's tradition of freedom and fairness.

- We will implement a full programme of measures to reverse the substantial erosion of civil liberties and roll back state intrusion.
- We will introduce a Freedom Bill.
- We will scrap the ID card scheme, the National Identity register and the ContactPoint database, and halt the next generation of biometric passports.
- We will outlaw the finger-printing of children at school without parental permission.
- We will extend the scope of the Freedom of Information Act to provide greater transparency.
- We will adopt the protections of the Scottish model for the DNA database.
- We will protect historic freedoms through the defence of trial by jury.
- We will restore rights to non-violent protest.
- We will review libel laws to protect freedom of speech.
- We will introduce safeguards against the misuse of anti-terrorism legislation.
- We will further regulate CCTV.
- We will end the storage of internet and email records without good reason.
- We will introduce a new mechanism to prevent the proliferation of unnecessary new criminal offences.
- We will establish a Commission to investigate the creation of a British Bill of Rights that incorporates and builds on all our obligations under the European Convention on Human Rights, ensures that these rights continue

to be enshrined in British law, and protects and extends British liberties. We will seek to promote a better understanding of the true scope of these obligations and liberties.

# 4. COMMUNITIES AND LOCAL GOVERNMENT

The Government believes that it is time for a fundamental shift of power from Westminster to people. We will promote decentralisation and democratic engagement, and we will end the era of top-down government by giving new powers to local councils, communities, neighbourhoods and individuals.

- We will promote the radical devolution of power and greater financial autonomy to local government and community groups. This will include a review of local government finance.
- We will rapidly abolish Regional Spatial Strategies and return decision-making powers on housing and planning to local councils, including giving councils new powers to stop 'garden grabbing'.
- In the longer term, we will radically reform the planning system to give neighbourhoods far more ability to determine the shape of the places in which their inhabitants live, based on the principles set out in the Conservative Party publication *Open Source Planning*.
- We will abolish the unelected Infrastructure Planning Commission and replace it with an efficient and democratically accountable system that provides a fast-track process for major infrastructure projects.
- We will publish and present to Parliament

   a simple and consolidated national planning
   framework covering all forms of development
   and setting out national economic,
   environmental and social priorities.
- We will maintain the Green Belt, Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs) and other environmental protections, and create a new designation – similar to SSSIs – to protect green areas of particular importance to local communities.

- We will abolish the Government Office for London and consider the case for abolishing the remaining Government Offices.
- We will provide more protection against aggressive bailiffs and unreasonable charging orders, ensure that courts have the power to insist that repossession is always a last resort, and ban orders for sale on unsecured debts of less than £25,000.
- We will explore a range of measures to bring empty homes into use.
- We will promote shared ownership schemes and help social tenants and others to own or part-own their home.
- We will promote 'Home on the Farm' schemes that encourage farmers to convert existing buildings into affordable housing.
- We will create new trusts that will make it simpler for communities to provide homes for local people.
- We will phase out the ring-fencing of grants to local government and review the unfair Housing Revenue Account.
- We will freeze Council Tax in England for at least one year, and seek to freeze it for a further year, in partnership with local authorities.
- We will create directly elected mayors in the 12 largest English cities, subject to confirmatory referendums and full scrutiny by elected councillors.
- We will give councils a general power of competence.
- We will ban the use of powers in the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) by councils, unless they are signed off by a magistrate and required for stopping serious crime.
- We will allow councils to return to the committee system, should they wish to.
- We will abolish the Standards Board regime.
- We will stop the restructuring of councils in Norfolk, Suffolk and Devon, and stop plans to force the regionalisation of the fire service Page 24

- We will impose tougher rules to stop unfair competition by local authority newspapers.
- We will introduce new powers to help communities save local facilities and services threatened with closure, and give communities the right to bid to take over local state-run services.
- We will implement the Sustainable Communities Act, so that citizens know how taxpayers' money is spent in their area and have a greater say over how it is spent.
- We will cut local government inspection and abolish the Comprehensive Area Assessment.
- We will require continuous improvements to the energy efficiency of new housing.
- We will provide incentives for local authorities to deliver sustainable development, including for new homes and businesses.
- We will review the effectiveness of the raising of the stamp duty threshold for first-time buyers.
- We will give councillors the power to vote on large salary packages for unelected council officials.

# 5. CONSUMER PROTECTION

The Government believes that action is needed to protect consumers, particularly the most vulnerable, and to promote greater competition across the economy. We need to promote more responsible corporate and consumer behaviour through greater transparency and by harnessing the insights from behavioural economics and social psychology.

- We will give regulators new powers to define and ban excessive interest rates on credit and store cards; and we will introduce a seven-day cooling-off period for store cards.
- We will oblige credit card companies to provide better information to their customers in a uniform electronic format that will allow consumers to find out whether they are receiving the best deal.

- We will introduce stronger consumer protections, including measures to end unfair bank and financial transaction charges.
- We will take forward measures to enhance customer service in the private and public sectors.
- We will introduce, as a first step, an Ombudsman in the Office of Fair Trading who can proactively enforce the Grocery Supply Code of Practice and curb abuses of power, which undermine our farmers and act against the long-term interest of consumers.
- We will introduce honesty in food labelling so that consumers can be confident about where their food comes from and its environmental impact.
- We will increase households' control over their energy costs by ensuring that energy bills provide information on how to move to the cheapest tariff offered by their supplier, and how each household's energy usage compares to similar households.
- We will give Post Office Card account holders the chance to benefit from direct debit discounts and ensure that social tariffs offer access to the best prices available.
- We will seek to extend protection and support to 'off-grid' energy consumers.

# 6. CRIME AND POLICING

The Government believes that we need radical action to reform our criminal justice system. We need police forces that have greater freedom from Ministerial control and are better able to deal with the crime and anti-social behaviour that blights people's lives, but which are much more accountable to the public they serve.

- We will reduce time-wasting bureaucracy that hampers police operations, and introduce better technology to make policing more effective while saving taxpayers' money.
- We will amend the health and safety laws that stand in the way of common sense policing.

- We will seek to spread information on which policing techniques and sentences are most effective at cutting crime across the Criminal Justice System.
- We will have a full review of the terms and conditions for police officer employment.
- We will introduce measures to make the police more accountable through oversight by a directly elected individual, who will be subject to strict checks and balances by locally elected representatives.
- We will oblige the police to publish detailed local crime data statistics every month, so the public can get proper information about crime in their neighbourhoods and hold the police to account for their performance.
- We will require police forces to hold regular 'beat meetings' so that residents can hold them to account.
- We will make hospitals share non-confidential information with the police so they know where gun and knife crime is happening and can target stop-and-search in gun and knife crime hot spots.
- We will give people greater legal protection to prevent crime and apprehend criminals.
- We will ensure that people have the protection that they need when they defend themselves against intruders.
- We will ban the sale of alcohol below cost price.
- We will review alcohol taxation and pricing to ensure it tackles binge drinking without unfairly penalising responsible drinkers, pubs and important local industries.
- We will overhaul the Licensing Act to give local authorities and the police much stronger powers to remove licences from, or refuse to grant licences to, any premises that are causing problems.
- We will allow councils and the police to shut down permanently any shop or bar found to be persistently selling alcohol to children.

- We will double the maximum fine for under-age alcohol sales to £20,000.
- We will permit local councils to charge more for late-night licences to pay for additional policing.
- We will promote better recording of hate crimes against disabled, homosexual and transgender people, which are frequently not centrally recorded.
- We will introduce a system of temporary bans on new 'legal highs' while health issues are considered by independent experts. We will not permanently ban a substance without receiving full advice from the Advisory Council on the Misuse of Drugs.
- We will review the operation of the Extradition Act and the US/UK extradition treaty to make sure it is even-handed.

# 7. CULTURE, OLYMPICS, MEDIA AND SPORT

The Government believes that a vibrant cultural, media and sporting sector is crucial for our well-being and quality of life. We need to promote excellence in these fields, with government funding used where appropriate to encourage philanthropic and corporate investment.

- We will maintain the independence of the BBC, and give the National Audit Office full access to the BBC's accounts to ensure transparency.
- We will enable partnerships between local newspapers, radio and television stations to promote a strong and diverse local media industry.
- We will maintain free entry to national museums and galleries, and give national museums greater freedoms.
- We will work with the Scottish Government to deliver a successful Commonwealth Games in Glasgow in 2014, and ensure that the 2013 Rugby League and the 2015 Rugby Union World Cups are successful. We will strongly support the England 2018 World Cup bid. Page 26

- We will work with the Mayor of London to ensure a safe and successful Olympic and Paralympic Games in London in 2012, and urgently form plans to deliver a genuine and lasting legacy.
- We will examine the case for moving to a 'gross profits tax' system for the National Lottery, and reform the National Lottery so that more money goes into sport, the arts and heritage.
- We will stop wasteful spending by National Lottery distributors by banning lobbying activities and restricting administration costs to 5% of total income.
- We will use cash in dormant betting accounts to improve local sports facilities and support sports clubs.
- We will encourage the reform of football governance rules to support the co-operative ownership of football clubs by supporters.
- We will support the creation of an annual Olympic-style schools sport event to encourage competitive sport in schools, and we will seek to protect school playing fields.
- We will cut red tape to encourage the performance of more live music.
- We will introduce measures to ensure the rapid roll-out of superfast broadband across the country. We will ensure that BT and other infrastructure providers allow the use of their assets to deliver such broadband, and we will seek to introduce superfast broadband in remote areas at the same time as in more populated areas. If necessary, we will consider using the part of the TV licence fee that is supporting the digital switchover to fund broadband in areas that the market alone will not reach.

# 8. DEFENCE

The Government believes that we need to take action to safeguard our national security at home and abroad. We also recognise that we need to do much more to ensure that our Armed Forces have the support they need, and that veterans and their families are treated with the dignity that they deserve.

- We will maintain Britain's nuclear deterrent, and have agreed that the renewal of Trident should be scrutinised to ensure value for money. Liberal Democrats will continue to make the case for alternatives. We will immediately play a strong role in the Nuclear Non-Proliferation Treaty Review Conference, and press for continued progress on multilateral disarmament.
- We will aim to reduce Ministry of Defence running costs by at least 25%.
- We will work to rebuild the Military Covenant by:
  - ensuring that Service personnel's rest and recuperation leave can be maximised;
  - changing the rules so that Service personnel only have to register once on the Service register;
  - exploring the potential for including Service children as part of our proposals for a pupil premium;
  - providing university and further education scholarships for the children of Servicemen and women who have been killed on active duty since 1990;
  - providing support for ex-Service personnel to study at university,
  - creating a new programme, 'Troops for Teachers', to recruit ex-Service personnel into the teaching profession;
  - providing extra support for veteran mental health needs; and
  - reviewing the rules governing the awarding of medals.

- We will double the operational allowance for Armed Forces personnel serving in Afghanistan, and include Armed Forces pay in our plans for a fair pay review.
- We will ensure that injured personnel are treated in dedicated military wards.
- We will look at whether there is scope to refurbish Armed Forces' accommodation from efficiencies within the Ministry of Defence.
- We will support defence jobs through exports that are used for legitimate purposes, not internal repression, and will work for a full international ban on cluster munitions.

# 9. DEFICIT REDUCTION

The Government believes that it is the most vulnerable who are most at risk from the debt crisis, and that it is deeply unfair that the Government could have to spend more on debt interest payments than on schools. So we need immediate action to tackle the deficit in a fair and responsible way, ensure that taxpayers' money is spent responsibly, and get the public finances back on track.

- We recognise that deficit reduction, and continuing to ensure economic recovery, is the most urgent issue facing Britain.
- We will significantly accelerate the reduction of the structural deficit over the course of a Parliament, with the main burden of deficit reduction borne by reduced spending rather than increased taxes.
- We will introduce arrangements that will protect those on low incomes from the effect of public sector pay constraint and other spending constraints.
- We will protect jobs by stopping the proposed jobs tax.
- We will set out a plan for deficit reduction in an emergency budget. We have created an independent Office for Budget Responsibility to make new forecasts of growth and borrowing for this emergency budget.

- We will make modest cuts of £6 billion to non-front-line services within the financial year 2010/11, subject to advice from the Treasury and the Bank of England on their feasibility and advisability. A proportion of these savings can be used to support jobs.
- We will hold a full Spending Review reporting this autumn, following a fully consultative process involving all tiers of government and the private sector.
- We will reduce spending on the Child Trust Fund and tax credits for higher earners.
- We will create strong financial discipline at all levels of government and place an obligation on public servants to manage taxpayers' money wisely.
- We will reduce the number and cost of quangos.

# **10. ENERGY AND CLIMATE CHANGE**

The Government believes that climate change is one of the gravest threats we face, and that urgent action at home and abroad is required. We need to use a wide range of levers to cut carbon emissions, decarbonise the economy and support the creation of new green jobs and technologies. We will implement a full programme of measures to fulfil our joint ambitions for a low carbon and eco-friendly economy.

- We will push for the EU to demonstrate leadership in tackling international climate change, including by supporting an increase in the EU emission reduction target to 30% by 2020.
- We will seek to increase the target for energy from renewable sources, subject to the advice of the Climate Change Committee.
- We will continue public sector investment in carbon capture and storage (CCS) technology for four coal-fired power stations.
- We will establish a smart grid and roll out smart meters.

- We will establish a full system of feed-in tariffs in electricity - as well as the maintenance of banded Renewables Obligation Certificates.
- We will introduce measures to promote a huge increase in energy from waste through anaerobic digestion.
- We will create a green investment bank.
- We will retain energy performance certificates while scrapping HIPs.
- We will introduce measures to encourage marine energy.
- We will establish an emissions performance standard that will prevent coal-fired power stations being built unless they are equipped with sufficient carbon capture and storage to meet the emissions performance standard.
- We will cancel the third runway at Heathrow.
- We will refuse permission for additional runways at Gatwick and Stansted.
- We will replace Air Passenger Duty with a per-flight duty.
- We will introduce a floor price for carbon, and make efforts to persuade the EU to move towards full auctioning of ETS permits.
- Through our 'Green Deal', we will encourage home energy efficiency improvements paid for by savings from energy bills. We will also take measures to improve energy efficiency in businesses and public sector buildings. We will reduce central government carbon emissions by 10% within 12 months.
- We will reform energy markets to deliver security of supply and investment in low carbon energy, and ensure fair competition including a review of the role of Ofgem.
- We will instruct Ofgem to establish a security guarantee of energy supplies.
- We will give an Annual Energy Statement to Parliament to set strategic energy policy and guide investment.
- We will deliver an offshore electricity grid in generation of offshore wind power. Page 28 order to support the development of a new

- We will encourage community-owned renewable energy schemes where local people benefit from the power produced. We will also allow communities that host renewable energy projects to keep the additional business rates they generate.
- As part of the creation of a green investment bank, we will create green financial products to provide individuals with opportunities to invest in the infrastructure needed to support the new green economy.
- We will work towards an ambitious global climate deal that will limit emissions and explore the creation of new international sources of funding for the purpose of climate change adaptation and mitigation.
- Liberal Democrats have long opposed any new nuclear construction. Conservatives, by contrast, are committed to allowing the replacement of existing nuclear power stations provided that they are subject to the normal planning process for major projects (under a new National Planning Statement), and also provided that they receive no public subsidy.
- We will implement a process allowing the Liberal Democrats to maintain their opposition to nuclear power while permitting the Government to bring forward the National Planning Statement for ratification by Parliament so that new nuclear construction becomes possible. This process will involve:
  - the Government completing the drafting of a national planning statement and putting it before Parliament;
  - specific agreement that a Liberal Democrat spokesperson will speak against the Planning Statement, but that Liberal Democrat MPs will abstain; and
  - clarity that this will not be regarded as an issue of confidence.

# II. ENVIRONMENT, FOOD AND RURAL AFFAIRS

The Government believes that we need to protect the environment for future generations, make our economy more environmentally sustainable, and improve our quality of life and well-being. We also believe that much more needs to be done to support the farming industry, protect biodiversity and encourage sustainable food production.

- We will introduce measures to make the import or possession of illegal timber a criminal offence.
- We will introduce measures to protect wildlife and promote green spaces and wildlife corridors in order to halt the loss of habitats and restore biodiversity.
- We will launch a national tree planting campaign.
- We will review the governance arrangements of National Parks in order to increase local accountability.
- We will work towards full compliance with European Air Quality standards.
- We will take forward the findings of the Pitt Review to improve our flood defences, and prevent unnecessary building in areas of high flood risk.
- We will examine the conclusions of the Cave and Walker Reviews, and reform the water industry to ensure more efficient use of water and the protection of poorer households.
- We will work towards a 'zero waste' economy, encourage councils to pay people to recycle, and work to reduce littering.
- We will reduce the regulatory burden on farmers by moving to a risk-based system of regulation, and will develop a system of extra support for hill farmers.

- We will investigate ways to share with livestock keepers the responsibility for preparing for and dealing with outbreaks of disease.
- We will take forward the Marine and Coastal Access Act and ensure that its conservation measures are implemented effectively.
- As part of a package of measures, we will introduce a carefully managed and science-led policy of badger control in areas with high and persistent levels of bovine tuberculosis.
- We will promote high standards of farm animal welfare. We will end the testing of household products on animals and work to reduce the use of animals in scientific research. We will promote responsible pet ownership by introducing effective codes of practice under the Animal Welfare Act, and will ensure that enforcement agencies target irresponsible owners of dangerous dogs.
- We will ensure that food procured by government departments, and eventually the whole public sector, meets British standards of production wherever this can be achieved without increasing overall cost.
- We will investigate measures to help with fuel costs in remote rural areas, starting with pilot schemes.
- We will create a presumption in favour of sustainable development in the planning system.
- We oppose the resumption of commercial whaling, will press for a ban on ivory sales, and will tackle the smuggling and illegal trade on wildlife through our new Border Police Force.
- We will bring forward a motion on a free vote enabling the House of Commons to express its view on the repeal of the Hunting Act.

# **12. EQUALITIES**

The Government believes that there are many barriers to social mobility and equal opportunities in Britain today, with too many children held back because of their social background, and too many people of all ages held back because of their gender, race, religion or sexuality. We need concerted government action to tear down these barriers and help to build a fairer society.

- We will promote equal pay and take a range of measures to end discrimination in the workplace.
- We will extend the right to request flexible working to all employees, consulting with business on how best to do so.
- We will undertake a fair pay review in the public sector to implement our proposed '20 times' pay multiple.
- We will look to promote gender equality on the boards of listed companies.
- We will promote improved community relations and opportunities for Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) communities, including by providing internships for underrepresented minorities in every Whitehall department and funding a targeted national enterprise mentoring scheme for BAME people who want to start a business.
- We will stop the deportation of asylum seekers who have had to leave particular countries because their sexual orientation or gender identification puts them at proven risk of imprisonment, torture or execution.
- We will use our relationships with other countries to push for unequivocal support for gay rights and for UK civil partnerships to be recognised internationally.

# **I3. EUROPE**

The Government believes that Britain should play a leading role in an enlarged European Union, but that no further powers should be transferred to Brussels without a referendum. This approach strikes the right balance between constructive engagement with the EU to deal with the issues that affect us all, and protecting our national sovereignty.

- We will ensure that the British Government is a positive participant in the European Union, playing a strong and positive role with our partners, with the goal of ensuring that all the nations of Europe are equipped to face the challenges of the 21st century: global competitiveness, global warming and global poverty.
- We will ensure that there is no further transfer of sovereignty or powers over the course of the next Parliament. We will examine the balance of the EU's existing competences and will, in particular, work to limit the application of the Working Time Directive in the United Kingdom.
- We will amend the 1972 European Communities Act so that any proposed future treaty that transferred areas of power, or competences, would be subject to a referendum on that treaty – a 'referendum lock'. We will amend the 1972 European Communities Act so that the use of any passerelle would require primary legislation.
- We will examine the case for a United Kingdom Sovereignty Bill to make it clear that ultimate authority remains with Parliament.
- We will ensure that Britain does not join or prepare to join the Euro in this Parliament.
- We will strongly defend the UK's national interests in the forthcoming EU budget negotiations and agree that the EU budget should only focus on those areas where the EU can add value.
- We will press for the European Parliament to have only one seat, in Brussels.

- We will approach forthcoming legislation in the area of criminal justice on a case-by-case basis, with a view to maximising our country's security, protecting Britain's civil liberties and preserving the integrity of our criminal justice system. Britain will not participate in the establishment of any European Public Prosecutor.
- We support the further enlargement of the EU.

# **14. FAMILIES AND CHILDREN**

The Government believes that strong and stable families of all kinds are the bedrock of a strong and stable society. That is why we need to make our society more family friendly, and to take action to protect children from excessive commercialisation and premature sexualisation.

- We will maintain the goal of ending child poverty in the UK by 2020.
- We will reform the administration of tax credits to reduce fraud and overpayments.
- We will bring forward plans to reduce the couple penalty in the tax credit system as we make savings from our welfare reform plans.
- We support the provision of free nursery care for pre-school children, and we want that support to be provided by a diverse range of providers, with a greater gender balance in the early years workforce.
- We will take Sure Start back to its original purpose of early intervention, increase its focus on the neediest families, and better involve organisations with a track record of supporting families. We will investigate ways of ensuring that providers are paid in part by the results they achieve.
- We will refocus funding from Sure Start peripatetic outreach services, and from the Department of Health budget, to pay for 4,200 extra Sure Start health visitors.
- We will investigate a new approach to helping families with multiple problems.

- We will publish serious case reviews, with identifying details removed.
- We will review the criminal records and vetting and barring regime and scale it back to common sense levels.
- We will crack down on irresponsible advertising and marketing, especially to children. We will also take steps to tackle the commercialisation and sexualisation of childhood.
- We will encourage shared parenting from the earliest stages of pregnancy including the promotion of a system of flexible parental leave.
- We will put funding for relationship support on a stable, long-term footing, and make sure that couples are given greater encouragement to use existing relationship support.
- We will conduct a comprehensive review of family law in order to increase the use of mediation when couples do break up, and to look at how best to provide greater access rights to non-resident parents and grandparents.

# **15. FOREIGN AFFAIRS**

The Government believes that Britain must always be an active member of the global community, promoting our national interests while standing up for the values of freedom, fairness and responsibility. This means working as a constructive member of the United Nations, NATO and other multilateral organisations including the Commonwealth; working to promote stability and security; and pushing for reform of global institutions to ensure that they reflect the modern world.

- We will take forward our shared resolve to safeguard the UK's national security and support our Armed Forces in Afghanistan and elsewhere.
- We will push for peace in the Middle East, with a secure and universally recognised Israel living alongside a sovereign and viable Palestinian state.

- We will work to establish a new 'special relationship' with India and seek closer engagement with China, while standing firm on human rights in all our bilateral relationships.
- We will maintain a strong, close and frank relationship with the United States.
- We want to strengthen the Commonwealth as a focus for promoting democratic values and development.
- We will work to promote stability in the Western Balkans.
- We will support concerted international efforts to prevent Iran from obtaining a nuclear weapon.
- We support reform of the UN Security Council, including permanent seats for Japan, India, Germany, Brazil and African representation.
- We will work to intensify our cultural, educational, commercial and diplomatic links with many nations beyond Europe and North America to strengthen the UK's relations with the fastest-growing areas of the world economy.
- We will never condone the use of torture.

## 16. GOVERNMENT TRANSPARENCY

The Government believes that we need to throw open the doors of public bodies, to enable the public to hold politicians and public bodies to account. We also recognise that this will help to deliver better value for money in public spending, and help us achieve our aim of cutting the record deficit. Setting government data free will bring significant economic benefits by enabling businesses and non-profit organisations to build innovative applications and websites.

• We will require public bodies to publish online the job titles of every member of staff and the salaries and expenses of senior officials paid more than the lowest salary permissible in Pay Band I of the Senior Civil Service pay scale, and organograms that include all positions in those bodies.

- We will require anyone paid more than the Prime Minister in the centrally funded public sector to have their salary signed off by the Treasury.
- We will regulate lobbying through introducing a statutory register of lobbyists and ensuring greater transparency.
- We will also pursue a detailed agreement on limiting donations and reforming party funding in order to remove big money from politics.
- We will strengthen the powers of Select Committees to scrutinise major public appointments.
- We will introduce new protections for whistleblowers in the public sector.
- We will take steps to open up government procurement and reduce costs; and we will publish government ICT contracts online.
- We will create a level playing field for opensource software and will enable large ICT projects to be split into smaller components.
- We will require full, online disclosure of all central government spending and contracts over £25,000.
- We will create a new 'right to data' so that government-held datasets can be requested and used by the public, and then published on a regular basis.
- We will require all councils to publish meeting minutes and local service and performance data.
- We will require all councils to publish items of spending above £500, and to publish contracts and tender documents in full.
- We will ensure that all data published by public bodies is published in an open and standardised format, so that it can be used easily and with minimal cost by third parties.

# **17. IMMIGRATION**

The Government believes that immigration has enriched our culture and strengthened our economy, but that it must be controlled so that people have confidence in the system. We also recognise that to ensure cohesion and protect our public services, we need to introduce a cap on immigration and reduce the number of non-EU immigrants.

- We will introduce an annual limit on the number of non-EU economic migrants admitted into the UK to live and work.
   We will consider jointly the mechanism for implementing the limit.
- We will end the detention of children for immigration purposes.
- We will create a dedicated Border Police Force, as part of a refocused Serious Organised Crime Agency, to enhance national security, improve immigration controls and crack down on the trafficking of people, weapons and drugs. We will work with police forces to strengthen arrangements to deal with serious crime and other cross-boundary policing challenges, and extend collaboration between forces to deliver better value for money.
- We support E-borders and will reintroduce exit checks.
- We will apply transitional controls as a matter of course in the future for all new EU Member States.
- We will introduce new measures to minimise abuse of the immigration system, for example via student routes, and will tackle human trafficking as a priority.
- We will explore new ways to improve the current asylum system to speed up the processing of applications.

# 18. INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT

The Government believes that even in these difficult economic times, the UK has a moral responsibility to help the poorest people in the world. We will honour our aid commitments, but at the same time will ensure much greater transparency and scrutiny of aid spending to deliver value for money for British taxpayers and to maximise the impact of our aid budget.

- We will honour our commitment to spend 0.7% of GNI on overseas aid from 2013, and to enshrine this commitment in law.
- We will encourage other countries to fulfil their aid commitments.
- We will support actions to achieve the Millennium Development Goals. In particular, we will prioritise aid spending on programmes to ensure that everyone has access to clean water, sanitation, healthcare and education; to reduce maternal and infant mortality; and to restrict the spread of major diseases like HIV/ AIDS, TB and malaria. We will recognise the vital role of women in development, promote gender equality and focus on the rights of women, children and disabled people to access services.
- We will use the aid budget to support the development of local democratic institutions, civil society groups, the media and enterprise; and support efforts to tackle corruption.
- We will introduce full transparency in aid and publish details of all UK aid spending online. We will push for similarly high levels of transparency internationally.
- We will create new mechanisms to give British people a direct say in how an element of the aid budget is spent.
- We will keep aid untied from commercial interests, and will maintain DfID as an independent department focused on poverty reduction.
- We will stick to the rules laid down by the OECD about what spending counts as aid.

- We will push hard in 2010 to make greater progress in tackling maternal and infant mortality.
- We will work to accelerate the process of relieving Heavily Indebted Poor Countries of their debt.
- We will support efforts to establish an International Arms Trade Treaty to limit the sales of arms to dangerous regimes.
- We will support pro-development trade deals, including the proposed Pan-African Free Trade Area.
- We will support innovative and effective smaller British non-governmental organisations that are committed to tackling poverty.
- We will explore ways of helping the very poorest developing countries to take part in international climate change negotiations.
- We will ensure that UK Trade and Investment and the Export Credits Guarantee Department become champions for British companies that develop and export innovative green technologies around the world, instead of supporting investment in dirty fossil-fuel energy production.
- We will provide a more integrated approach to post-conflict reconstruction where the British military is involved – building on the Stabilisation Unit in Whitehall and creating a new Stabilisation and Reconstruction Force to bridge the gap between the military and the reconstruction effort.
- We will review what action can be taken against 'vulture funds'.
- We will support reform of global financial institutions such as the World Bank and the International Monetary Fund in order to increase the involvement of developing nations.

# **19. JOBS AND WELFARE**

The Government believes that we need to encourage responsibility and fairness in the welfare system. That means providing help for those who cannot work, training and targeted support for those looking for work, but sanctions for those who turn down reasonable offers of work or training.

- We will end all existing welfare to work programmes and create a single welfare to work programme to help all unemployed people get back into work.
- We will ensure that Jobseeker's Allowance claimants facing the most significant barriers to work are referred to the new welfare to work programme immediately, not after 12 months as is currently the case. We will ensure that Jobseeker's Allowance claimants aged under 25 are referred to the programme after a maximum of six months.
- We will realign contracts with welfare to work service providers to reflect more closely the results they achieve in getting people back into work.
- We will reform the funding mechanism used by government to finance welfare to work programmes to reflect the fact that initial investment delivers later savings through lower benefit expenditure, including creating an integrated work programme with outcome funding based upon the DEL/AME switch.
- We will ensure that receipt of benefits for those able to work is conditional on their willingness to work.
- We support the National Minimum Wage because of the protection it gives lowincome workers and the incentives to work it provides.
- We will re-assess all current claimants of Incapacity Benefit for their readiness to work. Those assessed as fully capable for work will be moved onto Jobseeker's Allowance.
- We will support would-be entrepreneurs through a new programme – Work for Yourself – which will give the unemployed access to business mentors and start-up loppage 35

- We will draw on a range of Service Academies to offer pre-employment training and work placements for unemployed people.
- We will develop local Work Clubs places where unemployed people can gather to exchange skills, find opportunities, make contacts and provide mutual support.
- We will investigate how to simplify the benefit system in order to improve incentives to work.

# 20. JUSTICE

The Government believes that more needs to be done to ensure fairness in the justice system. This means introducing more effective sentencing policies, as well as overhauling the system of rehabilitation to reduce reoffending and provide greater support and protection for the victims of crime.

- We will introduce a 'rehabilitation revolution' that will pay independent providers to reduce reoffending, paid for by the savings this new approach will generate within the criminal justice system.
- We will conduct a full review of sentencing policy to ensure that it is effective in deterring crime, protecting the public, punishing offenders and cutting reoffending. In particular, we will ensure that sentencing for drug use helps offenders come off drugs.
- We will explore alternative forms of secure, treatment-based accommodation for mentally ill and drugs offenders.
- We will implement the Prisoners' Earnings Act 1996 to allow deductions from the earnings of prisoners in properly paid work to be paid into the Victims' Fund.
- We will consider how to use proceeds from the Victim Surcharge to deliver up to 15 new rape crisis centres, and give existing rape crisis centres stable, long-term funding.
- We will carry out a fundamental review of Legal Aid to make it work more efficiently.

- We will change the law so that historical convictions for consensual gay sex with overl6s will be treated as spent and will not show up on criminal records checks.
- We will extend anonymity in rape cases to defendants.
- We will introduce effective measures to tackle anti-social behaviour and low-level crime, including forms of restorative justice such as Neighbourhood Justice Panels.

# **2I. NATIONAL SECURITY**

The Government believes that its primary responsibility is to ensure national security. We need a coherent approach to national security issues across government, and we will take action to tackle terrorism, and its causes, at home and abroad.

- We have established a National Security Council and appointed a National Security Adviser.
- We have commenced a Strategic Defence and Security Review, commissioned and overseen by the National Security Council, with strong Treasury involvement. We will also develop and publish a new National Security Strategy.
- We will urgently review Control Orders, as part of a wider review of counter-terrorist legislation, measures and programmes. We will seek to find a practical way to allow the use of intercept evidence in court.
- We will deny public funds to any group that has recently espoused or incited violence or hatred. We will proscribe such organisations, subject to the advice of the police and security and intelligence agencies.
- We believe that Britain should be able to deport foreign nationals who threaten our security to countries where there are verifiable guarantees that they will not be tortured. We will seek to extend these guarantees to more countries.

# 22. NHS

The Government believes that the NHS is an important expression of our national values. We are committed to an NHS that is free at the point of use and available to everyone based on need, not the ability to pay. We want to free NHS staff from political micromanagement, increase democratic participation in the NHS and make the NHS more accountable to the patients that it serves. That way we will drive up standards, support professional responsibility, deliver better value for money and create a healthier nation.

- We will guarantee that health spending increases in real terms in each year of the Parliament, while recognising the impact this decision will have on other departments.
- We will stop the top-down reorganisations of the NHS that have got in the way of patient care. We are committed to reducing duplication and the resources spent on administration, and diverting these resources back to front-line care.
- We will significantly cut the number of health quangos.
- We will cut the cost of NHS administration by a third and transfer resources to support doctors and nurses on the front line.
- We will stop the centrally dictated closure of A&E and maternity wards, so that people have better access to local services.
- We will strengthen the power of GPs as patients' expert guides through the health system by enabling them to commission care on their behalf.
- We will ensure that there is a stronger voice for patients locally through directly elected individuals on the boards of their local primary care trust (PCT). The remainder of the PCT's board will be appointed by the relevant local authority or authorities, and the Chief Executive and principal officers will be appointed by the Secretary of State on the advice of the new independent NHS board. This will ensure the right balance between

locally accountable individuals and technical expertise.

- The local PCT will act as a champion for patients and commission those residual services that are best undertaken at a wider level, rather than directly by GPs. It will also take responsibility for improving public health for people in their area, working closely with the local authority and other local organisations.
- If a local authority has concerns about a significant proposed closure of local services, for example an A&E department, it will have the right to challenge health organisations, and refer the case to the Independent Reconfiguration Panel. The Panel would then provide advice to the Secretary of State for Health.
- We will give every patient the right to choose to register with the GP they want, without being restricted by where they live.
- We will develop a 24/7 urgent care service in every area of England, including GP out-ofhours services, and ensure every patient can access a local GP. We will make care more accessible by introducing a single number for every kind of urgent care and by using technology to help people communicate with their doctors.
- We will renegotiate the GP contract and incentivise ways of improving access to primary care in disadvantaged areas.
- We will make the NHS work better by extending best practice on improving discharge from hospital, maximising the number of day care operations, reducing delays prior to operations, and where possible enabling community access to care and treatments.
- We will help elderly people live at home for longer through solutions such as home adaptations and community support programmes.
- We will prioritise dementia research within the health research and development budget.

- We will seek to stop foreign healthcare professionals working in the NHS unless they have passed robust language and competence tests.
- Doctors and nurses need to be able to use their professional judgement about what is right for patients and we will support this by giving front-line staff more control of their working environment.
- We will strengthen the role of the Care Quality Commission so it becomes an effective quality inspectorate. We will develop Monitor into an economic regulator that will oversee aspects of access, competition and price-setting in the NHS.
- We will establish an independent NHS board to allocate resources and provide commissioning guidelines.
- We will enable patients to rate hospitals and doctors according to the quality of care they received, and we will require hospitals to be open about mistakes and always tell patients if something has gone wrong.
- We will measure our success on the health results that really matter – such as improving cancer and stroke survival rates or reducing hospital infections.
- We will publish detailed data about the performance of healthcare providers online, so everyone will know who is providing a good service and who is falling behind.
- We will put patients in charge of making decisions about their care, including control of their health records.
- We will create a Cancer Drugs Fund to enable patients to access the cancer drugs their doctors think will help them, paid for using money saved by the NHS through our pledge to stop the rise in Employer National Insurance contributions from April 2011.
- We will reform NICE and move to a system of value-based pricing, so that all patients can access the drugs and treatments their doctors think they need.

- We will introduce a new dentistry contract that will focus on achieving good dental health and increasing access to NHS dentistry, with an additional focus on the oral health of schoolchildren.
- We will provide £10 million a year beyond 2011 from within the budget of the Department of Health to support children's hospices in their vital work. And so that proper support for the most sick children and adults can continue in the setting of their choice, we will introduce a new per-patient funding system for all hospices and providers of palliative care.
- We will encourage NHS organisations to work better with their local police forces to clamp down on anyone who is aggressive and abusive to staff.
- We are committed to the continuous improvement of the quality of services to patients, and to achieving this through much greater involvement of independent and voluntary providers.
- We will give every patient the power to choose any healthcare provider that meets NHS standards, within NHS prices. This includes independent, voluntary and community sector providers.

# 23. PENSIONS AND OLDER PEOPLE

The Government believes that people deserve dignity and respect in old age, and that they should be provided with the support they need. That means safeguarding key benefits and pensions, and taking action to make it easier for older people to work or volunteer.

- We will restore the earnings link for the basic state pension from April 2011, with a 'triple guarantee' that pensions are raised by the higher of earnings, prices or 2.5%.
- We will commit to establishing an independent commission to review the longterm affordability of public sector pensions, while protecting accrued rights.

- We will phase out the default retirement age and hold a review to set the date at which the state pension age starts to rise to 66, although it will not be sooner than 2016 for men and 2020 for women. We will end the rules requiring compulsory annuitisation at 75.
- We will implement the Parliamentary and Health Ombudsman's recommendation to make fair and transparent payments to Equitable Life policy holders, through an independent payment scheme, for their relative loss as a consequence of regulatory failure.
- We will explore the potential to give people greater flexibility in accessing part of their personal pension fund early.
- We will protect key benefits for older people such as the winter fuel allowance, free TV licences, free bus travel, and free eye tests and prescriptions.
- We will simplify the rules and regulations relating to pensions to help reinvigorate occupational pensions, encouraging companies to offer high-quality pensions to all employees, and we will work with business and the industry to support auto enrolment.

# 24. POLITICAL REFORM

The Government believes that our political system is broken. We urgently need fundamental political reform, including a referendum on electoral reform, much greater co-operation across party lines, and changes to our political system to make it far more transparent and accountable.

 We will establish five-year fixed-term Parliaments. We will put a binding motion before the House of Commons stating that the next general election will be held on the first Thursday of May 2015. Following this motion, we will legislate to make provision for fixed-term Parliaments of five years. This legislation will also provide for dissolution if 55% or more of the House votes in favour.

- We will bring forward a Referendum Bill on electoral reform, which includes provision for the introduction of the Alternative Vote in the event of a positive result in the referendum, as well as for the creation of fewer and more equal sized constituencies. We will whip both Parliamentary parties in both Houses to support a simple majority referendum on the Alternative Vote, without prejudice to the positions parties will take during such a referendum.
- We will bring forward early legislation to introduce a power of recall, allowing voters to force a by-election where an MP is found to have engaged in serious wrongdoing and having had a petition calling for a by-election signed by 10% of his or her constituents.
- We will establish a committee to bring forward proposals for a wholly or mainly elected upper chamber on the basis of proportional representation. The committee will come forward with a draft motion by December 2010. It is likely that this will advocate single long terms of office. It is also likely that there will be a grandfathering system for current Peers. In the interim, Lords appointments will be made with the objective of creating a second chamber that is reflective of the share of the vote secured by the political parties in the last general election.
- We will bring forward the proposals of the Wright Committee for reform to the House of Commons in full – starting with the proposed committee for management of backbench business. A House Business Committee, to consider government business, will be established by the third year of the Parliament.
- We will reduce electoral fraud by speeding up the implementation of individual voter registration.
- We will establish a commission to consider the 'West Lothian question'.
- We will prevent the possible misuse of Parliamentary privilege by MPs accused of serious wrongdoing.

- We will cut the perks and bureaucracy associated with Parliament.
- We will consult with the Independent Parliamentary Standards Authority on how to move away from the generous final-salary pension system for MPs.
- We will fund 200 all-postal primaries over this Parliament, targeted at seats which have not changed hands for many years. These funds will be allocated to all political parties with seats in Parliament that they take up, in proportion to their share of the total vote in the last general election.
- We will ensure that any petition that secures 100,000 signatures will be eligible for formal debate in Parliament. The petition with the most signatures will enable members of the public to table a bill eligible to be voted on in Parliament.
- We will introduce a new 'public reading stage' for bills to give the public an opportunity to comment on proposed legislation online, and a dedicated 'public reading day' within a bill's committee stage where those comments will be debated by the committee scrutinising the bill.
- We will improve the civil service, and make it easier to reward the best civil servants and remove the least effective.
- We will reform the Civil Service Compensation Scheme to bring it into line with practice in the private sector.
- We will put a limit on the number on Special Advisers.
- We will introduce extra support for people with disabilities who want to become MPs, councillors or other elected officials.
- We will open up Whitehall recruitment by publishing central government job vacancies online.
- We will publish details of every UK project that receives over £25,000 of EU funds.
- We will give residents the power to instigate local referendums on any local issue.

- We will stop plans to impose supplementary business rates on firms if a majority of the firms affected do not give their consent.
- We will give residents the power to veto excessive council tax increases.
- We will continue to promote peace, stability and economic prosperity in Northern Ireland, standing firmly behind the agreements negotiated and institutions they establish.
   We will work to bring Northern Ireland back into the mainstream of UK politics, including producing a government paper examining potential mechanisms for changing the corporation tax rate in Northern Ireland.
- We will implement the proposals of the Calman Commission and introduce a referendum on further Welsh devolution.
- We will review the control and use of accumulated and future revenues from the Fossil Fuel Levy in Scotland.
- We recognise the concerns expressed by the Holtham Commission on the system of devolution funding. However, at this time, the priority must be to reduce the deficit and therefore any change to the system must await the stabilisation of the public finances. Depending on the outcome of the forthcoming referendum, we will establish a process similar to the Calman Commission for the Welsh Assembly. We will take forward the Sustainable Homes Legislative Competence Order.
- We will make the running of government more efficient by introducing enhanced Departmental Boards which will form collective operational leadership of government departments.

## **25. PUBLIC HEALTH**

The Government believes that we need action to promote public health, and encourage behaviour change to help people live healthier lives. We need an ambitious strategy to prevent ill-health which harnesses innovative techniques to help people take responsibility for their own health.

- We will give local communities greater control over public health budgets with payment by the outcomes they achieve in improving the health of local residents.
- We will give GPs greater incentives to tackle public health problems.
- We will investigate ways of improving access to preventative healthcare for those in disadvantaged areas to help tackle health inequalities.
- We will ensure greater access to talking therapies to reduce long-term costs for the NHS.

# 26. SCHOOLS

The Government believes that we need to reform our school system to tackle educational inequality, which has widened in recent years, and to give greater powers to parents and pupils to choose a good school. We want to ensure high standards of discipline in the classroom, robust standards and the highest quality teaching. We also believe that the state should help parents, community groups and others come together to improve the education system by starting new schools.

- We will promote the reform of schools in order to ensure that new providers can enter the state school system in response to parental demand; that all schools have greater freedom over the curriculum; and that all schools are held properly to account.
- We will fund a significant premium for disadvantaged pupils from outside the schools budget by reductions in spending elsewhere.
- We will give parents, teachers, charities and local communities the chance to set up new

schools, as part of our plans to allow new providers to enter the state school system in response to parental demand.

- We will support Teach First, create Teach Now to build on the Graduate Teacher Programme, and seek other ways to improve the quality of the teaching profession.
- We will reform the existing rigid national pay and conditions rules to give schools greater freedoms to pay good teachers more and deal with poor performance.
- We will help schools tackle bullying in schools, especially homophobic bullying.
- We will simplify the regulation of standards in education and target inspection on areas of failure.
- We will give anonymity to teachers accused by pupils and take other measures to protect against false accusations.
- We will seek to attract more top science and maths graduates to be teachers.
- We will publish performance data on educational providers, as well as past exam papers.
- We will create more flexibility in the exams systems so that state schools can offer qualifications like the IGCSE.
- We will reform league tables so that schools are able to focus on, and demonstrate, the progress of children of all abilities.
- We will give heads and teachers the powers they need to ensure discipline in the classroom and promote good behaviour.
- We believe the most vulnerable children deserve the very highest quality of care.
   We will improve diagnostic assessment for schoolchildren, prevent the unnecessary closure of special schools, and remove the bias towards inclusion.
- We will improve the quality of vocational education, including increasing flexibility for 14–19 year olds and creating new Technical Academies as part of our plans to diversify schools provision.

- We will keep external assessment, but will review how Key Stage 2 tests operate in future.
- We will ensure that all new Academies follow an inclusive admissions policy. We will work with faith groups to enable more faith schools and facilitate inclusive admissions policies in as many of these schools as possible.

# 27. SOCIAL ACTION

The Government believes that the innovation and enthusiasm of civil society is essential in tackling the social, economic and political challenges that the UK faces today. We will take action to support and encourage social responsibility, volunteering and philanthropy, and make it easier for people to come together to improve their communities and help one another.

- We will support the creation and expansion of mutuals, co-operatives, charities and social enterprises, and enable these groups to have much greater involvement in the running of public services.
- We will give public sector workers a new right to form employee-owned co-operatives and bid to take over the services they deliver. This will empower millions of public sector workers to become their own boss and help them to deliver better services.
- We will train a new generation of community organisers and support the creation of neighbourhood groups across the UK, especially in the most deprived areas.
- We will take a range of measures to encourage charitable giving and philanthropy.
- We will introduce National Citizen Service. The initial flagship project will provide a programme for 16 year olds to give them a chance to develop the skills needed to be active and responsible citizens, mix with people from different backgrounds, and start getting involved in their communities.
- We will use funds from dormant bank accounts to establish a 'Big Society Bank', which will provide new finance for

neighbourhood groups, charities, social enterprises and other non-governmental bodies.

 We will take a range of measures to encourage volunteering and involvement in social action, including launching a national day to celebrate and encourage social action, and make regular community service an element of civil service staff appraisals.

### 28. SOCIAL CARE AND DISABILITY

The Government believes that people needing care deserve to be treated with dignity and respect. We understand the urgency of reforming the system of social care to provide much more control to individuals and their carers, and to ease the cost burden that they and their families face.

- We will establish a commission on long-term care, to report within a year. The commission will consider a range of ideas, including both a voluntary insurance scheme to protect the assets of those who go into residential care, and a partnership scheme as proposed by Derek Wanless.
- We will break down barriers between health and social care funding to incentivise preventative action.
- We will extend the greater roll-out of personal budgets to give people and their carers more control and purchasing power.
- We will use direct payments to carers and better community-based provision to improve access to respite care.
- We will reform Access to Work, so disabled people can apply for jobs with funding already secured for any adaptations and equipment they will need.

### 29. TAXATION

The Government believes that the tax system needs to be reformed to make it more competitive, simpler, greener and fairer. We need to take action to ensure that the tax framework better reflects the values of this Government.

- We will increase the personal allowance for income tax to help lower and middle income earners. We will announce in the first Budget a substantial increase in the personal allowance from April 2011, with the benefits focused on those with lower and middle incomes. This will be funded with the money that would have been used to pay for the increase in employee National Insurance thresholds proposed by the Conservative Party, as well as revenues from increases in Capital Gains Tax rates for non-business assets as described below. The increase in employer National Insurance thresholds proposed by the Conservatives will go ahead in order to stop the planned jobs tax.
- We will further increase the personal allowance to £10,000, making real terms steps each year towards meeting this as a longer-term policy objective. We will prioritise this over other tax cuts, including cuts to Inheritance Tax.
- We will also ensure that provision is made for Liberal Democrat MPs to abstain on budget resolutions to introduce transferable tax allowances for married couples without prejudice to the coalition agreement.
- We will reform the taxation of air travel by switching from a per-passenger to a per-plane duty, and will ensure that a proportion of any increased revenues over time will be used to help fund increases in the personal allowance.
- We will seek ways of taxing non-business capital gains at rates similar or close to those applied to income, with generous exemptions for entrepreneurial business activities.
- We will make every effort to tackle tax avoidance, including detailed development of Liberal Democrat proposals.

- We will increase the proportion of tax revenue accounted for by environmental taxes.
- We will take measures to fulfil our EU treaty obligations in regard to the taxation of holiday letting that do not penalise UK-based businesses.
- We will review the taxation of non-domiciled individuals.

# **30. TRANSPORT**

The Government believes that a modern transport infrastructure is essential for a dynamic and entrepreneurial economy, as well as to improve well-being and quality of life. We need to make the transport sector greener and more sustainable, with tougher emission standards and support for new transport technologies.

- We will mandate a national recharging network for electric and plug-in hybrid vehicles.
- We will grant longer rail franchises in order to give operators the incentive to invest in the improvements passengers want – like better services, better stations, longer trains and better rolling stock.
- We will reform the way decisions are made on which transport projects to prioritise, so that the benefits of low carbon proposals (including light rail schemes) are fully recognised.
- We will make Network Rail more accountable to its customers.
- We will establish a high speed rail network as part of our programme of measures to fulfil our joint ambitions for creating a low carbon economy. Our vision is of a truly national high speed rail network for the whole of Britain. Given financial constraints, we will have to achieve this in phases.
- We support Crossrail and further electrification of the rail network.
- We will turn the rail regulator into a powerful passenger champion.

- We will support sustainable travel initiatives, including the promotion of cycling and walking, and will encourage joint working between bus operators and local authorities.
- We are committed to fair pricing for rail travel.
- We will work towards the introduction of a new system of HGV road user charging to ensure a fairer arrangement for UK hauliers.
- We will stop central government funding for new fixed speed cameras and switch to more effective ways of making our roads safer, including authorising 'drugalyser' technology.
- We will tackle rogue private sector wheel clampers.

## 31. UNIVERSITIES AND FURTHER EDUCATION

The Government believes that our universities are essential for building a strong and innovative economy. We will take action to create more college and university places, as well as help to foster stronger links between universities, colleges and industries.

- We will seek ways to support the creation of apprenticeships, internships, work pairings, and college and workplace training places as part of our wider programme to get Britain working.
- We will set colleges free from direct state control and abolish many of the further education quangos. Public funding should be fair and follow the choices of students.
- We will await Lord Browne's final report into higher education funding, and will judge its proposals against the need to:
  - increase social mobility;
  - take into account the impact on student debt;
  - ensure a properly funded university sector;
  - improve the quality of teaching;
  - advance scholarship; and

- attract a higher proportion of students from disadvantaged backgrounds.
- If the response of the Government to Lord Browne's report is one that Liberal Democrats cannot accept, then arrangements will be made to enable Liberal Democrat MPs to abstain in any vote.
- We will review support for part-time students in terms of loans and fees.
- We will publish more information about the costs, graduate earnings and student satisfaction of different university courses.
- We will ensure that public funding mechanisms for university research safeguard its academic integrity.

The deficit reduction programme takes precedence over any of the other measures in this agreement, and the speed of implementation of any measures that have a cost to the public finances will depend on decisions to be made in the Comprehensive Spending Review.

The Government fully supports the devolution of powers to Northern Ireland, Scotland and Wales. As a result of devolution, many decisions made by UK Ministers or in the Westminster Parliament now apply to England only. The Northern Ireland Executive, the Scottish Executive and the Welsh Assembly Government make their own policy on their devolved issues. This document therefore sets out the agreed priorities for the Coalition Government in Westminster.

Cabinet Office 22 Whitehall London SWIA 2WH

Publication date: May 2010

#### © Crown copyright 2010

You may re-use this document/publication (not including the Royal Arms and other departmental or agency logos) free of charge in any format or medium. You must re-use it accurately and not in a misleading context. The material must be acknowledged as Crown copyright and you must give the title of the source document/publication. Where we have identified any third party copyright material you will need to obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned

This document/publication can also be viewed and commented on at our website www.hmg.gov.uk/programmeforgovernment

The material used in this publication is constituted from 50% post consumer waste and 50% virgin fibre

Ref: 401238 / 0510

# Agenda Item 4



**REPORT TO:** One Epping Forest Board

**SUBJECT**: Concluding Consultation on the Draft Sustainable Community Strategy

AUTHOR: Derek Macnab - Chair of the SCS Task and Finish Panel

### 1.0 Purpose

**1.1** To apprise members of the steering group on the outcomes of the work of the drafting group and proposals for completing consultation of the strategy.

### 2.0 Recommendations

**2.1** That members approve the attached draft Sustainable Community Strategy (SCS) for consultation with key stakeholders, and agree the arrangements set out in paragraph 5.

### 3.0 Background

**3.1** The Draft Sustainable Community Strategy (see Appendix one), has been produced after extensive public consultation, and discussion by the board and key partners. Public consultation concentrated on finding out the main issues local communities wanted to have addressed, while partners and stakeholders focused on areas where value could be added by coordinated intervention. Over 1,000 people have engaged with the consultation process so far, this is a significantly greater number than most other LSPs have managed.

**3.2** Board members have instructed that the focus of the document should be sharper and asked that the previous 50+ previous objectives/issues in the old strategy to be significantly reduced.

### 4.0 Draft SCS

**4.1** The current draft sets out a new vision, and 11 core objectives to drive forward the partnerships work to improve the economic, social and environmental well-being of the district over the next 21 years. The document is less than 20 pages long at present but the final document with inclusion of design and photographs will be longer. It also sets out some key values that will shape how the partner's will work together. The objectives are focused around four key themes, reflecting the Partnerships structure, around children, crime, sustainability, and health. Each contains a paragraph setting out the outcomes/achievements that will be sought. The document does not contain detailed lists of performance indicators, which partners felt would be better included in the delivery plans which need to be produced by each theme group setting out what steps they will take to practically implement the strategy.

### 5.0 Proposals for Concluding Consultation

**5.1** Given the extensive opportunities for the public stakeholders and partners to influence the content and shape of the draft strategy is proposed that the final consultation process is quite focused.

**5.2** If the attached draft is approved for consultation then it will be sent to all Board members for discussions within their own organization and comments requested within three weeks. Letters will also be sent to parish and town councils with a link to the LSP home page where the draft will be posted. Notifications will also be sent to everyone who attended the stakeholder conference in December and comments invited.

**5.3** The LSP team will process any responses, and circulate these to Board members by email. If no significant amendments are proposed then the proposal is that the strategy be approved in this virtual manner, if lots of significant amendments are made then a special meeting of the board will be called to formally approve the document.

### 6.0 Conclusion

**6.1** The draft as set out accurately reflects the key messages from residents and stakeholders about the issues that require action, and from partners about the areas where a partnership approach can 'add value'. This short focused document gives direction about where the partnership should take its work, and identifies new emerging issues around efficiency in public service provision which will set the context for much of the interagency work over the coming years. The strategy will be reviewed every three years with Action/Delivery Plans updated annually.